ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL A. CARRIGAN, Fourth Ward
City Council Member, of the City of Sparks,

Appellant,

Docket No. 51920

District Court No. 07-OC-012451B

vs.

**THE COMMISSION ON ETHICS OF THE
STATE OF NEVADA,**

Respondent. /

FILED

JUL 24 2008

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
BY *[Signature]*
DEPUTY CLERK

APPELLANT'S

OPENING BRIEF

CHESTER H. ADAMS, #3009
Sparks City Attorney
DOUGLAS R. THORNLEY, #10455
Assistant City Attorney
431 Prater Way
Sparks, NV 89431
(775) 353-2324

**Attorneys for Appellant
MICHAEL CARRIGAN**

\\L:\GATON\Carrigan\Ethics-DT\Pleadings\Supreme Court Appeal\Opening Brief.wpd

RECEIVED

JUL 24 2008

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

There are four primary issues for the Court to consider in this appeal:

1. Whether the District Court erred in concluding that Nevada Revised Statute (NRS) 281A.420(8) (formerly NRS 281.501(8)) is not unconstitutionally vague;
2. Whether the District Court erred in concluding that NRS 281A.420(2) (formerly NRS 281.501(2)) is not unconstitutionally vague;
3. Whether the District Court erred in concluding that the vagueness that permeates NRS 281A.420(8) and NRS 281A.420(2) does not chill protected political speech in violation of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution;
4. Whether the Order of the District Court, coupled with the Opinion of the Nevada Commission on Ethics in this case, amounts to a prior restraint of protected political speech.

II.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Constitutional challenges present questions of law that are subject to this Court's de novo review. *Awada v. Shuffle Master, Inc.*, 173 P.3d 707, 711 (Nev. 2007); *City of Las Vegas v. Dist. Ct.*, 146 P.3d 240, 245 (Nev. 2006).

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This appeal stems from the Nevada Commission on Ethics' improper application of certain unconstitutionally vague provisions of Nevada's Ethics in Government Law. In particular, on August 29, 2007, the Commission found that Sparks City Councilman Michael A. Carrigan should have abstained from voting on a certain matter before the City Council. Joint Appendix (JA) 0279-0291. The specific statutes invoked by the Commission do not adequately delineate the boundaries of lawful behavior and therefore public officers across Nevada are required to guess as to the applicability of the Ethics in Government Law.

///

1 **B. Course of Proceedings**

2 The Nevada Commission on Ethics convened on August 29, 2007 to review the actions of
3 Councilman Carrigan related to his August 23, 2006 vote to tentatively approve a planned
4 development handbook. *Id.* Applying the unconstitutionally vague statutes that are the subject of this
5 appeal, the Commission determined that Carrigan should have abstained from voting on the matter,
6 and found him guilty of a non-willful violation of NRS 281A.420(2). *Id.*

7 Councilman Carrigan subsequently sought Judicial Review of the Commission's decision. The
8 First Judicial District entertained the petition, noting that it was a "close call," but in an order dated
9 May 28, 2008, affirmed the Commissions' decision. JA 0369, Ins. 3-4; JA 0378-0414. Because the
10 effect of the District Court's order coupled with the Commission's decision in this case amounts to
11 a prior restraint on protected speech, Carrigan filed a First Amendment Petition for Writ of
12 Mandamus with this Court on June 13, 2008. (Supreme Court Case # 51850) On June 19, 2008, this
13 Court denied the petition, finding that an appeal from the District Court's order afforded Councilman
14 Carrigan an adequate legal remedy, precluding writ relief.

15 Councilman Carrigan then filed a timely notice of appeal from the District Court's order, and
16 the matter now resides before this Court. JA 0417-0418.

17 **C. Statement of Facts**

18 On February 16, 2005, Red Hawk Land Company submitted an application to the City of
19 Sparks Planning Department proposing the transfer of a tourist commercial zoning designation and
20 a gaming entitlement from the Wingfield Springs development in Sparks, Nevada to another Red
21 Hawk development - Tierra Del Sol - along the Pyramid Highway in Sparks.¹ This project is known
22 colloquially as the "Lazy 8." The transfer application was based upon a 1994 development agreement
23 that allowed for the future transfer of development credits if the credits remained unused. The Lazy
24 8 is a source of public consternation, with a small group of residents of unincorporated Washoe

26 ¹ Certain facts presented here are not contained in the record presently before the court, but are
27 indispensable for an accurate historical overview. Although these facts have little to no
28 bearing on the issues on appeal here, they are nonetheless important for the purpose of
 framing the factual recitations. Please see Supreme Court Case #'s 49504, 49682, and 20521
 for more information regarding the underlying land use dispute.

1 County and the Sparks Nugget being the most vocal opponents of the project. At an August 23, 2006
2 public meeting, the Sparks City Council voted three to two to deny Red Hawk's application for
3 tentative approval of the proposed Tierra Del Sol planned development handbook, which included
4 the transfer of the gaming entitlement. At this meeting, Red Hawk Land Company was represented
5 by a number of people, including Carlos Vasquez, who is a paid consultant to Red Hawk.

6 Subsequently, Red Hawk filed a lawsuit (Second Judicial District Court Case # CV06-02078)
7 against the City on August 25, 2006, alleging that the denial of the application was a breach of the
8 1994 development agreement and that the breach caused damages in excess of \$100 million. Through
9 negotiations with Red Hawk, and after contemplating its options and assessing the legal obstacles in
10 defending the Red Hawk Complaint, the City elected to settle the lawsuit. The Stipulation, Judgment
11 and Order entered by the Second Judicial District Court of Nevada on September 1, 2006 obligated
12 the City to tentatively approve Red Hawk's application.

13 Two weeks later, several nearly identical ethics complaints were filed against Sparks City
14 Councilman Michael Carrigan with the Nevada Commission on Ethics. JA 0009-0041. The
15 complaints alleged that Councilman Carrigan used his position as a Sparks City Councilman to secure
16 unwarranted benefits for himself from Carlos Vasquez and that Mr. Vasquez had an "undue
17 influence" over Councilman Carrigan. *Id.*

18 Mr. Vasquez has been friends with Councilman Carrigan since 1991, and served as the
19 volunteer campaign manager for Councilman Carrigan during his initial election to the Sparks City
20 Council in 1999, and each of his subsequent re-elections. JA 0280-0281.

21 Councilman Carrigan disclosed this relationship prior to the public hearing on the Red Hawk
22 application, and unequivocally stated that he was not in a position to reap any type of benefit from
23 the project, and that he could faithfully and impartially discharge his duties as an elected official in
24 this case. JA 0281. Nevertheless, the Commission commenced an investigation into the actions of
25 Councilman Carrigan, and ultimately charged Councilman Carrigan with (1) using his position in
26 government to secure an unwarranted benefit for Mr. Vasquez; (2) failing to make an adequate
27 disclosure of his relationship with Mr. Vasquez; and (3) failing to abstain from voting on the Red
28 Hawk application on August 23, 2006. JA 0055-0056

1 On September 20, 2006, the Sparks City Council voted to ratify the September 1, 2006
2 settlement as a perfunctory, prophylactic measure taken to eliminate even the slightest concern that
3 the City's decision to settle the Red Hawk action occurred outside the boundaries of Nevada's Open
4 Meeting Law. *See*, NRS 241.037.²

5 On October 6, 2006 the City of Sparks was sued again regarding the Lazy 8 – This time by
6 the Sparks Nugget and a group of citizens. (Second Judicial District Court # CV06-02410). In that
7 case, City's decision to settle the lawsuit was alleged to be faulty because of an alleged violation of
8 Nevada's planning and zoning laws. The Second Judicial District Court dismissed this lawsuit on
9 jurisdictional grounds, never reaching the merits of the case. The subsequent appeal presently resides
10 with this Court. (Supreme Court Case #'s 49504, 49682, 150251).

11 On August 27, 2007, Red Hawk sought final approval of the Tierra Del Sol planned
12 development handbook from the Sparks City Council. This time, applying a different standard of
13 review as required by NRS 278A.540, the City Council voted three to two to grant final approval of
14 the application.

15 The Nevada Commission on Ethics convened on August 29, 2007 and held a hearing
16 regarding the ethics complaints filed against Councilman Carrigan. JA 0279-0291. The Commission
17 found that the Councilman (1) did not use his position in government to secure or grant unwarranted
18 privileges, preferences, exceptions or advantages for Carlos Vasquez; and (2) that Councilman
19 Carrigan adequately disclosed his relationship with Mr. Vasquez. *Id.* However, the Commission
20 applied an unconstitutionally vague statute and inconsistently determined that Councilman Carrigan
21 should have abstained from voting on the Red Hawk application at the August 23, 2006 meeting of
22 the Sparks City Council due to his connection to Mr. Vasquez, despite concluding that a majority of
23 Councilman Carrigan's constituency favored the proposed Red Hawk application. *Id.*

24
25 ² There has never been an official finding or formal opinion issued by the Nevada Attorney
26 General that the City Council violated Nevada's Open Meeting Law. Therefore, the City
27 maintains that the September 1, 2006 "Stipulation, Judgment and Order" did not require any
28 subsequent approval or ratification by the City Council in a meeting conducted pursuant to
Nevada's Open Meeting Law, and that the September 20, 2006 meeting was held only to
demonstrate the City Council's commitment to the Open Meeting Law.

Thereafter, on September 21, 2007, the Sparks Nugget and the same group of citizens filed another lawsuit against the City of Sparks (Second Judicial District Case # CV07-02180). This lawsuit requests that the Second Judicial District Court invalidate the August 27, 2007 vote of the Sparks City Council based on the August 29, 2007 findings of the Nevada Commission on Ethics. A motion to dismiss this action is presently pending in Department Six of the Second Judicial District Court.

The Commission on Ethics published a formal opinion regarding its findings at the August 29, 2007 hearing on October 8, 2007. JA 0279-0291. Councilman Carrigan filed a Petition for Judicial Review in Carson City on October 9, 2007. JA 0292-0295; JA 0296-0335. On December 14, 2007, the Sparks Nugget and the same group of citizens filed a Motion to Intervene in the original lawsuit filed against the City of Sparks by Red Hawk (Second Judicial District Court Case # CV06-02078, *supra*) based on the August 29, 2007 decision of the Commission. The motion argues that the September 20, 2006 vote of the Sparks City Council ratifying the September 1, 2006 settlement is invalid because Councilman Carrigan should not have voted on the issue. The motion was granted, and the Interveners filed a counter-claim against Red Hawk and a cross-claim against the City of Sparks. Motions to dismiss these claims are currently pending in Department Six of the Second Judicial District Court.

Finally, on May 12, 2008 a hearing regarding Councilman Carrigan's Petition for Judicial Review was held in Department Two of the First Judicial District Court. JA 0292-0295; JA 0296-0335. In an Order dated May 28, 2008, the District Court upheld the decision of the Nevada Commission on Ethics. JA 0378-0414.

IV.

ARGUMENT

A. NRS 281A.420(8) is Unconstitutionally Vague

A statute is unconstitutionally vague if it “forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application...” *Connally v. General Construction Co.*, 269 U.S. 385, 391, 46 S.Ct. 126, 70 L.Ed. 322 (1926); *Nevada Comm’n on Ethics v. Ballard*, 120 Nev. 862, 868, 102 P.3d 544, 548 (2004). The

1 void-for-vagueness doctrine derives from the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to
2 the United States Constitution. *Silvar v. District Court*, 122 Nev. 289, 293, 129 P.3d 682, 685 (2006).
3 The Nevada Supreme Court has established a two-part test for determining whether a statute is
4 unconstitutionally vague: a statute is facially invalid if it (1) fails to provide notice sufficient to
5 enable persons of ordinary intelligence to understand what conduct is prohibited, and (2) lacks
6 specific standards, thereby encouraging, authorizing, or even failing to prevent arbitrary and
7 discriminatory enforcement. *Id.*; *City of Las Vegas v. District Court*, 118 Nev. 859, 862, 59 P.3d 477,
8 480 (2002).

9 The focus of the first prong of the vagueness test is to protect “those who may be subject to
10 potentially vague statutes,” *Silvar*, 122 Nev. at ___, 129 P.3d at 688 (2006), and to “guarantee that
11 every citizen shall receive fair notice of conduct that is forbidden.” *City of Las Vegas*, 118 Nev. at
12 864, 59 P.2d at 481 (2002). The notice required under the first prong “offers citizens the opportunity
13 to conform their...conduct to that law.” *Silvar*, 122 Nev. at ___, 129 P.3d at 685 (2006). While
14 absolute precision in drafting statutes is not necessary, the Legislature “must, at a minimum, delineate
15 the boundaries of unlawful conduct.” *City of Las Vegas*, 118 Nev. at 863, 59 P.3d at 480 (2002).
16 Additionally, where the Legislature does not define each term it uses in a statute, the statute will only
17 survive a constitutional challenge if there are well settled and ordinarily understood meanings for the
18 words employed when viewed in the context of the entire statutory provision. *Woofter v. O’Donnell*,
19 91 Nev. 756, 762, 542 P.2d 1396, 1400 (1975). In particular, questions of vagueness must be more
20 closely examined where, as in this case, First Amendment rights are implicated. *Ashton v. Kentucky*,
21 384 U.S. 195, 200, 86 S.Ct. 1407, 16 L.Ed.2d 469 (1966); *Reno v. American Civil Liberties Union*,
22 521 U.S. 844, 870-872, 117 S.Ct. 2329, 138 L.Ed.2d 874 (1997) (noting that even if a statute is not
23 so vague as to violate due process, it may be impermissibly vague under the First Amendment if it
24 chills protected speech).

25 Previously, this Court invalidated the entire Ethics in Government Law based on
26 unconstitutionally vague financial disclosure provisions that required public officers to file a financial
27 statement detailing, among other things, economic interests “within the jurisdiction of the officer’s
28 public agency.” *Dunphy v. Sheehan*, 92 Nev. 259, 263, 549 P.2d 332, 335 (1976). In that case, the

1 Court found the phrase “within the jurisdiction of the officer’s public agency” unconstitutionally
2 vague for the purposes of financial disclosure laws. *Id.* at 264. By way of illustration, the Court wrote:

3 *[L]et us suppose that a city councilman, or his spouse, or his child, owns extensive*
4 *economic interests within the county of his residence, but not within the boundaries*
5 *of the city which he serves. Must he disclose such interests? They are not within the*
6 *jurisdiction of his public agency. He must determine for himself whether to expose*
7 *such interests to public scrutiny, and does not know if a failure to disclose may subject*
8 *him to a criminal penalty. Examples of this initial ‘jurisdictional’ determination may*
9 *be multiplied a hundredfold, and points to a basic vagueness in the law. The public*
10 *office holder should not have to guess regarding his duty to disclose. Id.* at 265.

11 In *Dunphy*, public officers were forced to make a determination regarding the disclosure of economic
12 interests on their own, at the risk of being penalized if their decision was later found to be erroneous.
13 *Id.* That is precisely the situation in this case.

14 NRS 281A.420(8) enumerates various relationships that amount to a “commitment in a private
15 capacity to the interests of others” under the Nevada Ethics in Government Law.³ In this case, the
16 Nevada Commission on Ethics and the First Judicial District Court made use of two subsections of
17 NRS 281A.420(8) when they determined that Councilman Carrigan had a commitment in his private
18 capacity to the interests of Mr. Vasquez – subsection (d) and subsection (e). See JA 0279-0291; JA
19 0408, Ins. 4-13; JA 0410, Ins.13-18. Subsections (d) and (e) are unconstitutionally vague, deceptive
20 and uncertain.

21
22 ³ **NRS 281A.420** Additional standards: Voting by public officers; disclosures required of public
23 officers and employees; effect of abstention from voting on quorum; Legislators authorized
24 to file written disclosure.

- 25 8. As used in this section, “commitment in a private capacity to the interests of others”
26 means a commitment to a person:
27 (a) Who is a member of his household;
28 (b) Who is related to him by blood, adoption or marriage within the third degree of
consanguinity or affinity;
(c) Who employs him or a member of his household;
(d) With whom he has a substantial and continuing business relationship; or
(e) Any other commitment or relationship that is substantially similar to a commitment
or relationship described in this subsection.

1 NRS 281A.420(8)(d) classifies a “substantial and continuing business relationship” as a
2 “commitment in a private capacity to the interests of others.” The phrases “business relationship” and
3 “substantial and continuing” have never been defined by the Nevada Legislature. No state case law
4 or published opinion of the Commission on Ethics exists to clarify what these phrases mean - in the
5 context of the Ethics in Government Law or otherwise. Is a business relationship an attempt to turn
6 a profit, or is making money not a relevant factor? Does it include volunteer relationships? Are
7 political relationships encompassed by this subsection? If a public officer is a party to a business
8 relationship, what standards are used to determine if the relationship is substantial and continuing?
9 Is a relationship substantial because it represents a certain percentage of an individual’s income, or
10 is there some unidentified, previously determined amount of money? Is money even involved in the
11 analysis? Is a relationship continuing because it exists for some undefined fixed period of time, or
12 is there an unpublished standard that contemplates frequency of dealings? Without guidance from
13 Nevada’s Legislature, Nevada’s Courts, or the Nevada Commission on Ethics, there can be no well
14 settled or commonly understood meaning of “business relationship” or the conditions that make a
15 business relationship “substantial and continuing.” Consequently, public officers across Nevada are
16 to guess at the boundaries of the statute. Where terms contained in a statute are so poorly defined as
17 to leave persons “guessing” at what behavior is, or is not, lawful, the statute is void-for-vagueness.
18 *Childs v. State*, 107 Nev. 584, 585, 816 P.2d 1079, 1079-1080 (1991).

19 NRS 281A.420(8)(e) provides that any relationship that is “substantially similar” to any other
20 relationship enumerated in NRS 281A.420(8) also amounts to a “commitment in a private capacity
21 to the interests of others.” The phrase “substantially similar” establishes a standard that is so
22 subjective and so expansive, that it is impossible for a person of ordinary intelligence to discern which
23 relationships fall within the purview of the statute – nearly any relationship could be made to satisfy
24 the broad and unfettered grasp of NRS 281A.420(8)(e). The Legislature, the Nevada Courts, and the
25 Commission on Ethics have never established standards BY which a relationship is analyzed for
26 substantial similarity under NRS 281A.420(8)(e). Without a statutory or well settled and commonly
27 understood definition of the term “substantially similar,” public officers in the State of Nevada must
28 rely on their own best guesses and advice from similarly confused attorneys, while the Nevada

1 Commission on Ethics is left to its own unfettered predilections to determine whether a relationship
2 is substantially similar to one of the relationships enumerated in subsection (e).

3 Underscoring the unconstitutional implementation of NRS 281A.420(8), the Commission on
4 Ethics specifically found that the nature of Councilman Carrigan's relationship with Mr. Vasquez was
5 political and not for profit:

6 *Councilman Carrigan and Mr. Vasquez both testified that Mr. Vasquez worked in a*
7 *volunteer capacity on all three of Councilman Carrigan's campaigns for Sparks City*
8 *Council and that Mr. Vasquez never profited from any of Councilman Carrigan's*
9 *campaigns. Mr. Vasquez testified that everything he and his companies did for*
10 *Councilman Carrigan was at cost and that any related funds were a "pass-through,"*
11 *that is, Mr. Vasquez's companies would do work on the campaigns, or farm out the*
12 *work, and then be reimbursed for costs from Councilman Carrigan's campaign fund.*

13 JA 0286.

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