2		
3	MICHAEL A. CARRIGAN, Fourth Ward City Council Member of the City of Sparks,	
4	Appellant,	Docket No. 51920 District Court No. 07-OC-012451B
5)	
6	vs.)	FILED
7	THE COMMISSION ON ETHICS OF THE) STATE OF NEVADA,	
8	Respondent.	AUG 25 2008
9)	CLEBY OF SUPREME COURT BY WILLIAM
10		DEPUTY CLERK
11	RESPONDENT'S	S ANSWERING BRIEF
12		
13	COMES NOW, Respondent THE NEVAL	DA COMMISSION ON ETHICS OF THE STATE OF
	NEVADA, by and through its attorney of record,	Adriana G. Fralick, Esq., and files its Answering
14	Brief.	
15	Respectfully submitted this 25 th day of Au	agust, 2008
16		
17		
18	THE	E NEVADA STATE COMMISSION ON ETHICS
19		
20		ADRIANA G. FRALICK, ESQ. (9392)
21		General Counsel

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Subsections 2 and 8 of NRS 281A.420 are not unconstitutionally vague because a public officer of ordinary intelligence can understand what conduct is prohibited and because the subsections do not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement by the Commission.

Subsections 2 and 8 of NRS 281A.420 are not vague. A statute is vague if it (1) fails to provide people of ordinary intelligence with a reasonable opportunity to understand what conduct it prohibits or (2) authorizes or encourages arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement by the officers charged with its administration. Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, 455 U.S. 489, 497-99 (1982); Comm'n on Ethics v. Ballard, 120 Nev. 862, 868 (2004).

Carrigan claims that subsection 2 and through its reliance on subsection 8 of NRS 281A.420 and specifically, paragraphs (d) and (e) of subsection 8 are unconstitutionally vague due to their use of the phrases "substantially similar," "substantial and continuing" and "business relationship." Carrigan's position is that without guidance from Nevada's Legislature, Nevada's Courts, or the Commission, these phrases do not have well-settled or commonly understood definitions. (OB p.7, lines14-20; p. 8, lines 1-18.) The District Court correctly ruled against Carrigan's position.

1. Subsections 2 and 8 of NRS 281A.420 are not unconstitutionally vague because a public officer of ordinary intelligence would understand what conduct is prohibited by their readily interpretable terms, by consulting a dictionary or by requesting an advisory opinion.

Subsections 2 and 8 of NRS 281A.420 are not vague. Subsection 2 of NRS 281A.420 provides that when a matter comes for a vote before the public body in which a public officer serves and the public officer has a conflict of interest as listed in NRS 281A.420(8), then the public officer must abstain from voting. It would be impossible to list in the statute every possible situation where a conflict of interest could exist. Instead, in line with this Court,² the Legislature, when enacting subsections 2 and 8 of NRS 281A.420 provided boundaries so that people of ordinary intelligence need not guess as to the conduct the provisions proscribe.³ In fact, a statute will be upheld if its terms "may

² "Although, mathematical precision is not possible in drafting statutory language, the law must, at a minimum, delineate the boundaries of unlawful conduct." <u>City of Las Vegas v. Eighth Judicial District Court</u>, 118 Nev. 859; 59 P.3d 47 (citing <u>Coates v. City of Cincinnati</u>, 402 U.S. 611, 614, 29 L.Ed. 2d 214, 91 S. Ct. 1686 (1971).

³ Unlike the former financial disclosure provision found to be unconstitutional (<u>Dunphy v. Sheehan</u>, 92 Nev. 259, 263, 549 P.2d 332, 335 (1976)) NRS 281A.420(2) and (8) delineate boundaries of unlawful conduct.

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

2425

22

23

26

27

28

be made reasonably certain by reference to other definable sources." <u>County of Nevada v. Ronald L. Macmillen</u>, 11 Cal. 3d 662; 522 P.2d 1345 (quoting <u>People v. Victor</u>, 2 Cal.2d 280, 300).

Subsections 2 and 8 of NRS 281A.420 have many qualifying terms readily interpretable by a person of ordinary intelligence exercising common sense. Subsection 2 of NRS 281A.420 has at least four qualifiers which provide that a public officer may not act on a matter with respect to which the [1] independence of judgment of [2] a reasonable person [3] in his situation would be [4]materially affected by one of the interests listed under NRS 281A.420(8). Similarly, NRS 281A.420(8) lists four certain and concrete circumstances of where the "independence of judgment" of a "reasonable person" in the public officer's "situation" would be "materially affected." A public officer must abstain from voting on a matter where he has a commitment to a person: [1] who is a member of his household; [2] who is related to him by blood, adoption or marriage within the third degree of consanguinity or affinity; [3] who employs him or a member of his household; [4] with whom he has a substantial and continuing business relationship. Therefore, a public officer of ordinary intelligence exercising common sense would understand that he must abstain from voting on a matter where the independence of judgment of a reasonable person in his situation would be materially affected by a relationship that is "substantially similar" to a relationship with someone who is a member of his household or who is closely related to him or who employs him or a member of his household or with whom he has a substantial and continuing business relationship.

A statute is also not vague where a question can be resolved by consulting a dictionary or similar supplement.⁴ A basic principle of statutory interpretation is that words in a statute should be given their plain meaning unless this violates the spirit of the law. State, Dep't of Ins. v. Humana Health Ins., 112 Nev. 356, 360 914 P.2d 627, 630 (1996); Rodgers v. Rodgers, 110 Nev. 1370, 1373, 887 P.2d 269 (1994); Cleghorn v. Hess, 109 Nev. 544, 548, 853 P.2d 1260 (1993). Accordingly, the definition of "substantial" includes: Having solid worth or value, of real significance; solid; weighty; important,

⁴ "Even trained lawyers may find it necessary to consult legal dictionaries, treatises, and judicial opinions before they may say with any certainty that some statutes may compel or forbid. ...All the Due Process Clause requires is that the law give sufficient warning that men may conduct themselves so as to avoid that which is forbidden." Sheriff v. Martin, 99 Nev. At 340, 662 P.2d at 637 (quoting Rose v. Locke, 423 U.S. 48, 49, 96 S. Ct. 243 (1975).

worthwhile. New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary, 3124 (ed. 1993). "Similar" means: Having a resemblance or likeness; of the same nature or kind. Id. at 2865. The definition of "continue" includes: Remain in existence or in its present condition; last, endure. Id. at 495. Finally, "Business" means: The state of being busily engaged; activity; application, industry; diligent labour. The object of serious effort; an aim. Id. at 305.

In the instant case, Vasquez had served as Carrigan's campaign manager for three consecutive campaigns including at the time Vasquez came before the City Council for a vote on the Lazy 8. (JA0198-99; 00200, lines 1-11; 0151, lines 17-25.) Additionally, Carrigan and Vasquez had a close personal friendship that had been ongoing since 1991. (JA0075.) By applying the plain meaning of the words found in NRS 281A.420(8)(d) and (e) Carrigan would have had notice that the substance, not the name,⁵ of his relationship with Vasquez was such that required Carrigan abstain from voting on the Lazy 8 matter.

Finally, a statute will not typically be found to be vague where a person subject to the statute can seek an advisory opinion to "remove any doubt there may be as to the meaning of the law." McConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93, 170 n.64 (2003) (quoting Letter Carriers, 413 U.S. at 580); Groener v. Or. Gov't Ethics Comm'n, 651 P.2d 736, 742-43 (Or. Ct. App. 1982).

Carrigan's argument that, requesting an advisory opinion from the Commission is not a viable solution considering the logistics associated with City Council meetings and the inability of Council members to identify potential conflicts prior to three days before a scheduled City Council meeting fails in light of the record in this case. (OB p. 21, lines 19-28; p. 22.) Furthermore, Carrigan's assertion that the Commission's process in rendering advisory opinions is too long and onerous also fails. (Id. at 22.)

The District Court found that "Carrigan failed to seek an advisory opinion from the Commission even though he had ample time and opportunity to do so." (JA0894, lines 20-24.) Vasquez became Carrigan's campaign manager long before he voted on the Lazy 8 matter—six months or more before

⁵ Carrigan argues that his relationship with Vasquez amounts to political volunteerism on the part of Vasquez and not a substantial and continuing business relationship or any other similar relationship included in NRS 281A.420(8). (OB p. 9, lines 22-25.)

his vote. (JA0109, lines 10-12; 0110, lines 11-15.) Carrigan was aware that Vasquez was hired to represent Red Hawk on the Lazy 8 matter. (Id.) In fact, prior to Carrigan's vote in question, Vasquez met numerous times with Carrigan and other Council members to discuss the Lazy 8. (JA0194.) Surely, Carrigan knew this matter would, in the future, come before him for a vote. Therefore, in Carrigan's case, he could have requested an advisory opinion from the Commission if he had any questions about what conduct the statutes prohibit.

Carrigan's argument that the Commission's process in rendering advisory opinions is too lengthy and onerous is without merit. As an example of a typical request for an advisory opinion, the Commission points to a recent opinion requested by Carrigan's fellow Council member, Sparks City Councilman John Mayer. Councilman Mayer requested an advisory opinion from the Commission on November 9, 2007 and on December 12, 2007 (the next scheduled Commission meeting) the Commission rendered its opinion. See, In Re Mayer, Nev. Comm'n on Ethics (CEO) Op. 07-47A, http://ethics.nv.gov/opinions.htm. Unless the public officer waives the time limit, the Commission is statutorily required to issue an advisory opinion within 45 days after receiving the request. NRS 281A.440(1). Therefore, most advisory opinions are heard at the next meeting of the Commission following receipt of a request.

Even if there would not have been sufficient time, which there was, to seek an advisory opinion from the Commission, Carrigan could have telephoned the Commission's office where a representative would have referred Carrigan to the Commission's seminal Woodbury⁶ opinion which provides guidance to public officers on disclosure and abstention. Instead, the Sparks City Attorney, relying on a pre-Woodbury Attorney General opinion (AGO 98-27),⁷ advised Carrigan to disclose his interest to Vasquez and vote on the Lazy 8 matter. (See Addendum 1 attached hereto.) Accordingly, the District Court agreed with the Commission that:

⁶ In Re Woodbury, CEO 99-56 (1999).

⁷ AGO 98-27 was issued prior to the 1999 statutory changes enacting NRS 281A.420(8).

Under the Woodbury analysis, the burden was appropriately on Councilman Carrigan to make a determination regarding abstention. Abstention is required where a reasonable person's independence of judgment would be materially affected by his private commitment.

A reasonable person in Councilman Carrigan's position would not be able to remain objective on matters brought before the Council by his close personal friend, confidant and campaign manager, who was instrumental in getting Councilman Carrigan elected three times. Indeed, under such circumstances, a reasonable person would undoubtedly have such strong loyalties to this close friend, confidant and campaign manager as to materially affect the reasonable person's independence of judgment. (JA0385, lines 14-18.)

A reasonable public officer exercising common sense would understand the conduct prohibited by subsections 2 and 8 of NRS 281A.420 by reviewing the very language of the provisions or by requesting an advisory opinion from the Commission.

2. Subsections 2 and 8 of NRS 281A.420 do not authorize or encourage arbitrary enforcement.

Subsections 2 and 8 of NRS 281A.420 do not authorize or encourage arbitrary enforcement. The Commission does not have unfettered discretion when determining what conduct violates the statutes. In fact, the circumstances where a public officer is materially affected by a relationship are exhaustively enumerated in NRS 281A.420(8). The question then becomes whether Carrigan was put on notice that, if his close friend, confidant and campaign manager came before the Council on a matter for action, would Carrigan have to abstain from acting on the matter? The answer is yes.

Carrigan and Vasquez's relationship was "substantially similar" (NRS 281A.420(8)(e)) to a "substantial and continuing business relationship" (NRS 281A.420(8)(d)) or a family relationship within the third degree of consanguinity or affinity (NRS 281A.420(8)(b)). (JA0286.) Granted, reasonable men may differ in their interpretation of these terms. The Commissioners presiding over this matter differed as to whether Carrigan and Vasquez's relationship was more akin to a family relationship or a business relationship. (JA0249, lines 6-9, 23-25; 0250, lines 1-2; 0253, lines 10-12.)

However, it was unanimous that the sum total of their relationship amounted to a disqualifying conflict of interest under NRS 281A.420(8). (JA0265-66.)

What is more, Carrigan and Vasquez's relationship is exactly the type of relationship that the legislature intended to encompass when adopting paragraph (e) of NRS 281A.420(8). During the 1999 legislative session, Scott Scherer, General Counsel to Governor Guinn testified as follows:

[I]t has to actually be shown that the relationship is substantially similar to one of the four other relationships listed, including a member of one's family, member of one's household, an employment relationship, or a business relationship. The commission, he restated, would have to show the relationship is "as close as" or "substantially similar" to one listed in section 15, subsection 7 of the bill. He reiterated this would give the ethics commission some discretion for those egregious cases that may slip through the cracks otherwise, while still giving some guidance to public officials who need to know what their obligations are.

Legislative Minutes re: Hearing on SB 478 before the Senate Committee on Government Affairs, 70th Leg., at 42 (Nev. April 7, 1999).

In response to Senator Titus' question as to how campaign managers fit into the statute, Mr. Scherer responded:

[T]he way that would fit in...if this was one where the same person ran your campaign time, after time, after time, and you had a substantial and continuing relationship, yes, you probably ought to disclose and abstain in cases involving that particular person.

Legislative Minutes re: Hearing on SB 478 before the Senate Committee on Government Affairs, 70th Leg., at 42 (Nev. March 30, 1999). (Emphasis added.)

Given a reasonable and practical construction in accordance with the Legislature's intent, taken as a whole, the statutes are sufficiently definite in their terms to give adequate warning to public officers that voting on matters affecting family or business associates is prohibited. These laws do not authorize or encourage arbitrary enforcement and should not be void for vagueness.

B. Subsections 2 and 8 of NRS 281A.420 are not overbroad and do not encroach upon public officers' political speech and association rights.

Carrigan's argument that, through its reliance on NRS 281A.420(8), NRS 281A.420(2) is unconstitutionally overbroad because it effectively kills political speech and associational freedoms is unpersuasive. (OB p. 16, lines 16-19.) Carrigan reasons that, political contributions, volunteerism and citizen involvement will "dissipate" in Nevada due to the vagueness of NRS 281A.420(8). (OB p.10, lines 8-14.) He contends that political contributions that led to the election of a candidate will render that candidate ineffective. (Id.) Carrigan interprets the Commission's decision in his case to mean that all public officers in Nevada that have received campaign contributions must abstain from voting on matters where their contributors have an interest. The Commission vehemently rejects this interpretation.

A public officer's acceptance of campaign contributions, from a contributor that comes before him on a matter for action, in and of itself, does not demand the public officer's abstention from voting on the matter. In fact, subsection 4 of NRS 281A.420 states in relevant part:

This subsection does not require a public officer to disclose any campaign contributions that the public officer reported pursuant to NRS 294A.120...in a timely manner. NRS 281A.420(4).

Pursuant to NRS 281A.420(4), a public officer doesn't even have to disclose campaign contributions received from an interested person before him on a matter for action and since his disclosure is not required in these instances, his abstention from voting is also not required.

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